

BY-LAWS

FRIENDS OF THE LOWER SUWANNEE AND CEDAR KEYS NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGES, INC.

A NOT-FOR-PROFIT CORPORATION

Initial Adoption: February 1, 2001

Revisions: 2002, 2004, 2008, 2010, 2013

Reorganization: February 21, 2012

ARTICLE I: GENERAL

1. The Corporation shall be a not-for-profit organization known as Friends of the Lower Suwannee and Cedar Keys National Wildlife Refuges, Inc.
2. This Corporation is organized exclusively for charitable purposes, as a not-for-profit organization. Its activities shall be conducted in such a manner that no part of its funds shall inure to the benefit of any member. In addition, the Corporation shall be authorized to exercise the powers permitted non-profit corporations under Chapter 617, Florida Statutes: provided, however, that the Corporation exercising any one or more of its powers, shall do so in furtherance of the exempt purposes for which it has been organized as described in Section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code or any amendments or additions thereto.
3. The Corporation shall be located at the Lower Suwannee National Wildlife Refuge Headquarters with a mailing address of P.O. Box 1306, Chiefland, FL 32644.
4. The annual fiscal year shall begin on the first day of January and end on the 31st of December.
5. The Corporation shall develop and adhere to a code of ethics that supports the conservation mission of the National Wildlife Refuges.
6. These By-Laws may be altered, amended or repealed, in whole or in part, at a general meeting by the affirmative vote of a majority of the general membership when there is a quorum, provided that the notice of the meeting contains a statement of the proposed alteration or amendment. The Board may propose alterations, amendments for the general membership approval.

7. Whenever "written" notice is required by these bylaws, such notice may be provided by U.S. Mail or by e-mail.

ARTICLE II: PURPOSES

The purposes of the Corporation are to:

1. Be an advocate for the Lower Suwannee and Cedar Keys NWR and for the National Wildlife Refuge system.
2. Provide support of scientific projects of the Lower Suwannee and Cedar Keys National Wildlife Refuges, hereinafter referred to as Refuges.
3. Conserve, protect and enhance fish and wildlife and their habitats for the continuing benefit of the American people.
4. Support the stewardship of the National Wildlife Refuge System.
5. Promote a better awareness, appreciation, conservation and responsible utilization of the Refuges which also includes collaboration with other National Wildlife Refuges.
6. Whenever possible, provide assistance to the Refuges as requested and directed by the Refuge manager and staff.
7. Produce and make available to visitors of the Refuges, by sales or free distribution, suitable:
 - Interpretative and educational events and materials to increase the visitors' understanding of the Refuges, wildlife, and the environment of Central Florida's coastal area.
 - Special materials and memorabilia of the Refuges and the Corporation that will enhance visitors' appreciation and understanding of the conservation importance of the Refuges.
8. Acquire materials, supplies, equipment and/or labor which may be retained by the Corporation, or donated to the Service or Refuges to support operational, educational and maintenance projects as agreed with the Refuges' representatives.
9. Notwithstanding any other provision of these Bylaws, the purposes for which this Corporation is formed are exclusively charitable and educational within the meaning of Section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954.

ARTICLE III: MEMBERSHIP

1. Any individual or organization approving of the purposes of the Corporation and willing to assist the Corporation in its activities shall be eligible for membership. Membership shall be open to all persons regardless of race, creed, age, sex or nationality.
2. There shall be several classes of memberships as determined by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may elect continuing Honorary Members.
3. The membership year shall commence on January 1. The Board of Directors shall determine membership dues. Membership shall be effective on receipt of membership application and payment of dues.
4. Only members in good standing shall be eligible to participate in business meetings or serve in any of the Corporation's elective or appointive positions. Any member may resign by filing a written resignation with the Secretary. The Board of Directors, by affirmative vote of 2/3 of all members of the Board, may suspend or expel a member.
5. Each member shall be entitled to one vote.

ARTICLE IV: MEMBERSHIP MEETINGS

1. The annual meeting of the Corporation shall be held in the 1st quarter of the year at a time and place to be designated by the Board of Directors for the purpose of electing Officers and a Board of Directors and for the transaction of such other business as may come before the meeting. Written notice shall be sent to each member at least 30 days prior to the meeting.
2. The President of the Corporation may call a special membership meeting at any time. By written notice, a special membership meeting can also be called by at least 3 board members or at least 10 general members not less than 10 nor more than 45 days before the date of such meeting.
3. Eleven members shall constitute a quorum provided that this includes at least five members of the Board of Directors. When a quorum is present at the meeting, the vote of a majority of the members shall, except where a larger vote may be required by law or these Bylaws, decide any question brought before the meeting. The vote of each member must be cast in person. There shall be no voting by proxy.

ARTICLE V: BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

1. Candidates for the Board of Directors shall be members in good standing of the Corporation. The Board shall consist of the officers, the immediate past President, and at least 3 additional Directors but no more than 15. The President-Elect and the President shall be elected for one year. The President-Elect shall assume the President position the following year. The Past President shall also serve for one year. Other officers and Directors shall be elected for two years but may be re-elected. To avoid a complete turnover of the Board, the Board may stagger the terms. Designated representative of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service may serve as liaison to the Corporation and its Board as non-voting members of the Board.
2. Duties of the Board of Directors shall be to:
 - Transact all necessary business of the Corporation.
 - Control the property and other assets of the Corporation.
 - Determine the policies and objectives of the Corporation.
 - Fill vacancies on the Board of Directors until the next annual meeting.
 - Establish and approve an annual budget.
3. The Board of Directors shall meet at least four times per year. Four Board members in attendance shall constitute a quorum. Special Board meetings may be called by any three members of the Board upon 48 hours notice to the other Board members.
4. Emergency items requiring Board approval may be handled by email/phone vote with the President logging the responses. The final vote shall then be recorded in the minutes of the next Board meeting.
5. Any Board member may resign by delivering a written letter of resignation to the Corporation at its mailing address or to the President or Secretary. Unless specified to be effective at a later date, such resignation shall be effective upon receipt. Any Board member may be removed from office with cause by the affirmative vote of 2/3 of the Board. An officer or director who ceases to be a member of the Corporation shall thereupon cease to be a director.
6. The Officers of the Corporation shall consist of a President, a President-Elect, a Secretary, a Treasurer, and such other officers as the Board of Directors may deem necessary. The same person may hold any two or more offices, except that the President and Secretary may not hold additional offices.
7. The President shall be the principal executive officer of the Corporation and shall, subject to the direction of the Board of Directors, supervise and control all of the business and affairs of the Corporation. The President shall preside at all meetings of the members and of the Board of Directors. The President

shall have such other powers as are usually incident to such office and as may vest duties in him/her by these By-Laws or by the Directors.

8. The President-Elect shall perform the duties of the President in the absence of the President or in the event of the President's inability or refusal to act, and shall perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned by the President or by the Board of Directors.
9. The Treasurer shall, subject to the direction and control of the Board of Directors, have general charge of the financial affairs of the Corporation and shall keep full and accurate books of account in accordance with such standard as the Directors may from time to time determine. The Treasurer shall render a report of financial affairs of the Corporation at each annual meeting of the members and at such other times as the Directors shall determine. The Treasurer shall maintain custody of all funds, securities and valuable documents of the Corporation, except as the Directors may otherwise provide. The Treasurer shall have such other powers and duties as are usually incident to the office and as may be vested in her/him by these By-Laws or from time to time designated by the Directors.
10. The Secretary shall give such notices of meetings to members and Directors as are required by these By-Laws and shall keep a record of all the meetings of the members and Directors. The Secretary shall have such other powers and duties as are usually incident to the office and as may be vested in him/her by these By-Laws or by the Directors. In the absence of the Secretary from any meeting of members or Directors, a temporary secretary designated by the person presiding at the meeting, shall perform the duties of the Secretary.
11. Elected officers and Directors shall not receive any salary for their services to the Corporation, but may be reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses in accordance with procedures on this subject contained in Board policies.
12. Standing committees may include, but not be limited to Budget, Membership, Volunteers, Newsletter, Publicity, Fund Raising, Education, Grants, and Sales. The Chairperson of the Standing Committees shall be recommended by the President and approved by the Board and serve for a term of one year. Standing Committee Chairpersons shall report to the Board and communicate with the Board and Officers as required.
13. Ad hoc committees may be appointed by the President with the approval of the Board and shall serve until their charge is completed.
14. There shall be an annual financial review and report as required by State and Federal agencies, and at each change of Treasurer. A Financial Review Committee of three shall be selected by the Board to help conduct the review. The Review shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

- Adequacy of internal controls
- Accuracy of the financial records and reports to the board of directors
- Proper accounting for membership dues
- Proper authorization of expenditures
- Ascertaining that any taxes and corporate reports are properly filed in a timely manner.

ARTICLE VI: ELECTIONS AND TERMS OF OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

1. The Officers and Directors shall be elected at the Annual Meeting by the general membership. Each officer shall hold office until his or her term expires, or until a successor shall have been elected and qualified. An Officer or Director may serve more than one term.
2. A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, disqualification or otherwise may be filled by the Board of Directors for the un-expired portion of the term of said office.
3. There shall be an Officers and Directors nominating committee which shall be composed of two current Board members and one non-Board member, appointed by the President and approved by the Board of Directors. The nominating committee shall be constituted no later than September of each year, and shall present a slate of Officers and Directors to the Board no later than November. The Slate shall be published for the general membership no later than January of the next year.
4. The nominating committee shall present its slate to the annual meeting. Additional nominations may be made by the general membership with the consent of the person being nominated. Members in good standing may vote either by acclamation or by ballot.

ARTICLE VII: STAFF

1. The Board of Directors may appoint such staff as it deems desirable, who may or may not be members of the Corporation and who may be compensated or serve voluntarily. The Board may, at its discretion, require such staff persons to enter into a written contractual agreement in which compensation, duties, hours, grievances, and dismissal procedures shall, among other things, be delineated.
2. The Board of Directors may assign specific responsibilities to any staff person as the Board may decide, including but not limited to, assisting the Secretary and/or Treasurer in any of their duties.

3. The Board of Directors may relieve any staff person of his or her responsibilities without cause with 15 days written notice or immediately with cause. In the latter case, the staff person shall be allowed to meet with the Board of Directors within 10 days of such discharge to respond to charges.
4. The Board of Directors may obtain legal, accounting or other professional services as needed.

ARTICLE VIII: DISSOLUTION

1. The Corporation shall use its funds to accomplish only the objectives and purposes specified in the By-Laws and said funds shall not inure to the benefit of, or be distributed to, any members of the Corporation.
2. On dissolution of the Corporation, any funds remaining shall be distributed to one or more regularly organized and qualified charitable, educational, scientific or philanthropic organizations within the meaning of Section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or corresponding section of any future federal tax code, or to the Federal Government or to one or more State or local governments as determined by the Board of Directors.
3. The foregoing were adopted as the By-Laws of the Friends of the Lower Suwannee and Cedar Keys National Wildlife Refuges, Inc., a not-for-profit corporation under the laws of the State of Florida at a meeting of the Board of Directors of the Corporation on the 21st day of February, 2001.

Reorganization of these Bylaws adopted this 21st day of February, 2012,
at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors.

President

Secretary